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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT TACOMA
GEORGE A. TILLETT, et al.,
Case No. 09-5621RJB
Plaintiffs,
ORDER GRANTING
V. DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS FOR

SUMMARY JUDGMENT
CITY OF BREMERTON, et al.,

Defendants.

This matter comes before the Court orfddelants Harold Philip Whatley, City of
Bremerton, Roy Alloway, Jeffery Inklebarg&lpyd May, Randy Plumb, Steven Polonsky, and
Keith Sargent’'s Motions for Summary Judgmenkt 25-32). The Couhas considered the
motions, responses, and the vallet documents herein.

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On October 5, 2009, Plaintiffs George Tillettd his wife, Grace Tillett, filed a complaint

against eight Defendants: Witey, City of Bremerton, Alloway, Inklebarger, May, Plumb,

Polonsky, and Sargent alleging negligent ingagion, negligent supervision, violation of

Plaintiff George Tillett's ciMirights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and § 1985, negligent arrest, the torf

of outrage, and “loss of consortium.” Dkt. Rlaintiffs allege thatwhile Defendants were
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serving a search warrant, the Defendants viol&eorge Tillett's constitutional rights by using
excessive force in his detention.

On November 18, 2010, Defendants separdiiely motions for summary judgment.
Dkts. 25-32. The Courdaresses the motions togethn this order.

A. FACTS

The Bremerton Police Department has agion called the Special Operations Group
("SOG"). In September 2008, Plumb, Polkymsinklebarger, Whatley, May, Alloway, and
Rachel Lepovetsky were members of the SOG.

On September 3, 2008, SOG detectiveoRsky conducted a controlled buy of
methamphetamine using a Police Operativ® (P Under the sueillance of the SOG
detectives, the P.O. purchased methamphetafmneErik McShepard at 1718 Sheridan Road,
Bremerton, Washington (“1718 Sheridan”). Thsidence was owned by Tom Tillett and his
wife, Nancy Tillett. Tom Tillett is the son of George Tillett, the Plaintiff.

On September 8, 2008, Polonsky presented a complaint for a search warrant for 1718
Sheridan to Kitsap County Superior Courtide Jay Roof. Probable cause was found and a
search warrant was issued for a residence ldeHté718 Sheridan. Thearrant authorized any
peace officer to search the 1718 Sheridan ras&l@ order to see evidence related to
violations of RCW 69.50.401, Vidi@an of the Uniform Controlle@Gubstance Act (“VUCSA”").

On September 10, 2010, the SOG of the BremndPolice Department served the search
warrant. Dkt. 25, p. 4. In preparation for segvthe search warrarRolonsky held a briefing
with the members of the SOG informing thentld probable cause, the search warrant, and
their responsibilities. Polonsky informed the S@&tectives that the P.O. had told Polonsky that

there was a business selling auto garit of an attached garage.
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The SOG detectives involved in enteritgl8 Sheridan were Polonsky, Whatley, Plumb,
Inklebarger, Lepovetsky, and Ma Detective Alloway was aggied surveillance duties and
assisting with persons detained. Patrolceifs, including Defendant Keith Sargent, did not
make entry into the residence but were in ghaf covering the residee and assisting with
persons detained.

SOG detectives arrived at 1718 Sheridan wmgazlothing that cleayl displayed the word
“police” on the front and above each arm. Whementry team was at the door to the house,
Polonsky knocked on the door and shouted “Pofearch Warrant” several times. There was
no response from anyone inside the buaddi Polonsky, Whatley, Plumb, Inklebarger,
Lepovetsky, and May entered theuse. As the detectivesoved throughout the house, they
shouted loudly, “Police with a search warran&&veral occupants wedetained and taken out
of the residence to allow the detectives to sadely efficiently search éresidence pursuant to
the search warrant.

Whatley was clearing the house when hee#mma stairway which led down into a
garage. At the bottom of the stairs, Whatkgerved a closed door. Whatley did not know if
anyone was behind the closed do@rhatley stayed at the dooreasure the safety of the other
SOG members while theyntinued the search.

The closed door, which was coveredWiatley, was suddenly opened by a male
wearing a gray coat. The male was later identifigdPlaintiff George Tille(hereafter “Tillett”).
Whatley pointed his rifle afillett and yelled, “Police gein the ground.” According to
Whatley, Tillett refused and said,dri Tillett retreated back intthe room from which he came.
Whatley reached out to grab Tillet’s coat, Biltett backed awayrom Whatley. Tillett

continued to back into the rooamd away from Whatley. Whagletates that Tillett fell into a
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sitting position as he backed away. Whatleyogeal Tillett by the coat and again told Tillett to
lie on the ground. Whatley states that Tillefused and continued to resist. Whatley placed
Tillett on his stomach by using Tillett's coanklebarger then arrived to assist Whatley.

Inklebarger and Whatley attempted to place hand restraints on Tillett. Tillett tucked his
left arm under his body to prevent the officers frplacing restraints on him. The officers were
able to get Tillett's hands behind his back aratplrestraints on him. Tillett yelled that his hand
had been broken.

During the detention, Inklebarger noticed thdkett had a smalldceration on his right
wrist. Inklebarger checked the tightness of the rigggran order to ensure that the restraints did
not come in contact with the laegion. Inklebarger also “doubledked” the restraints to ensure
they did not tighten.

Tillett was assisted to his feet, and Inklebarger and Plumb escorted him outside. Outsig
Tillett asked Patrol Officer Sargent if he could sit down. Sargent removed the restraints and
provided a chair for Tillett. Thieand restraints were on for apgimately five minutes. Sargent
and other officers repeatedly asked Tilletiéfwanted to receive medical aid, but Tillett
declined. Plumb provided a bandage for Tikelaceration. Offices requested that the
Bremerton Fire Department (“BFD”) administemedical evaluationBFD medically cleared
Tillet and left the scene. Tillett requested thag8at get his tea. Sargent went to the garage

and retrieved Tillett's tea. Tillett did not request any additional aid.

Tillett died from causes unrelated to any injuries he alleges were caused by Defendants.

Dkt. 25, p. 7.
B. DEFENDANTS’ VERSION OF DISPUTED EVENTS

Defendants state that service of a search waatsa residence where narcotics are being

ORDER - 4

€,



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

sold is “extremely high risk” because drug deslaften have weapons to protect themselves and
their investment in narcotics.

Defendants state that Whatley was concefaetis safety and the safety of the other
officers for several reasons: (1) the officers hadn repeatedly shouting that the police were
present and had a warrant, yet Ttllead concealed himself behittte door, (2) serving a search
warrant on a residence is a dangerous activityTi{@tt was wearing a bulkly gray coat capable
of concealing a weapon, and (4) Tillett's hands vekren at this side (as opposed to up in the
air) where a weapon could be concealed. Dktp25;6. Whatley believed that it was safer for
himself and the other detectives to detain Tilleheathan permit Tillett tgo into the room that
was not secured by the SOG members. Dkt. 25, pVhatley believed that Tillett could arm
himself and create a greater riskthe other SOG memberkl.

Defendants allege that Tillett had injured hght hand prior to theervice of the search
warrant. Dkt. 25, p. 6.
C. PLAINTIFFS’ VERSION OF DISPUTED EVENTS

Plaintiffs assert that thersece of the search warrant waot a “high risk entry” as
demonstrated by the “high risk check list” ussdthe Defendants. Dkt. 49, p. 3. Plaintiffs
allege that the plan for the raid was to etite building through th&ont door and that the
alternate plan was to enter through the garage Plaintiffs state tht Whatley saw a male
suspect enter the garage priothe entry into the residencéd. Plaintiffs state that on the way
into the residence, three officers saw a magpsct, later identified aEllett, enter through a
doorway. Id. Plaintiffs allege that none of the @firs attempted to detdinat person or enter
the house through the garagenass their alternative plan. Dkt. 49, p. 3-4.

Plaintiffs state that Tillett weanot acting in an aggressiveuna but was resisting in such

ORDER -5




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

a way as to convince Inklelggar Tillett did not want to beouched. Dkt. 49, p. 4-5.

Plaintiffs allege that Tillett had not informégs son, Tom, that he had broken his hand.
Dkt. 49, p. 5. Plaintiffs alleggat Tom had observed his fathesing the hand without paird.
Plaintiffs allege that officers forcefully esced Tillett out of the garage and that one of the
officers was holding Tillett’'s arm in su@way as to cause him great pald.

Plaintiffs allege that sevdrafficers expressed concern\&@hatley’s use of force against
Tillett. Dkt. 49, p. 6. Plaintiffs allege that Whatley attempted to justify his use of force by
referencing his SWAT trainingld. Plaintiffs allegehat Plumb felt that Whatley’s explanation
was inadequateld. Plaintiffs allege that there weo¢her options in dealing with Tillettid.

[I. DISCUSSION

Summary judgment is appropieavhen, viewing fastin the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party, there is no genaiissue of material faethich would preclude summary
judgment at a matter of law. Fed.R.Civ.P. &hce the moving party has satisfied its burden, it
is entitled to summary judgment if the norwing party fails to present, by affidavits,
depositions, answer to interrogaés, or admissions on file, “spécifacts showing that there is
a genuine issue for trial.Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). “The mere
existence of a scintilla afvidence in support of the norering party’s opposition is not
sufficient.” Triton Energy Corp. v. Square D C®&8 F.3d 1216, 1221 (9th Cir. 1995). Factual
disputes whose resolution would not affect the outcome of the suitelevant to the
consideration of a motion for summary judgmeftderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&t77 U.S.
242, 248 (1986). Summary judgment “should kentgd where the non-moving party fails to
offer evidence from which a reasonable [factfindenjld return a [decision] in its favorTriton

Energy Corpat 1220.
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“The task of a federal court in a diversagtion is to approximate state law as closely as
possible in order to make sure that the viniicaof the state right iwithout discrimination
because of the federal forumGee v. Tenneco, In®15 F.2d 857, 861 (9th Cir. 1980). Where
the state’s highest appellate cduas not spoken on an issue, the fatleourt’s roles to predict
what decision the statefsghest court would reactSee Evanston Ins. Co. v. OEA,.|rik66
F.3d 915, 921 (9th Cir. 2009). A federal cousiSintermediate apfiate court decisions,
decisions from other jurisdictions, statutes, tises, and restatementsgagdance” to predict
how the state’s highest court would rulessurance Co. of Am. v. Wall & Assocs. LLC of
Olympia 370 F.3d 557, 560 (9th Cir. 2004). A federalirt will follow the decisions of state
intermediate appellate courts as$ there is “convincing evidence” that the state’s highest court
would decide the issue differentlyd.

Plaintiffs are claiming in their complainegligent investigation, negligent supervision,
violation of Tillett’s civil rights under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 a@d 985, negligent arrest, outrage,
and “loss of consortium.” Defendants are segklismissal of all the claims. The Court will
address each claim in turn.

A. NEGLIGENT INVESTIGATION

Defendants assert that Pldiist claims for negligent invstigation should be dismissed
because negligent investigation is not a recgphcause of action under Washington law, unless
it is a child abuse investigation. Dkt. 259p. Plaintiffs do not oppose Defendants City of
Bremerton, Whatley, Inklebarger, Polonskyd&argent’s motions for summary judgment on
this issue. Dkts. 48, p. 6; 49, p. 6; 50, p. 6;m%8; & 52, p. 6. Plaintiffs have not responded to
Defendants Alloway, May, and Plumb’s motions $ommary judgment on this issue. Dkts. 27,

29 &30. Defendants’ motions regarding neghtjinvestigation are unopposed and should be
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granted.
B. NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION

Defendants Whatley, Alloway, Inklebarg@glonsky, May, and Sargent assert that any
claim for negligent supervisicagainst them should be dismissed. Dkts. 25, p. 10; 27, p. 4; 28,
p. 4; 29, p. 4; 31, p. 4; & 32, p. 4. Defendantsatdy, Alloway, Inklebarger, Polonsky, May,
and Sargent state that Plaintiffs’ claim for negigsupervision is againthe City of Bremerton,
not the individual Defendantspnd that to the extent Plaiffg are asserting a negligent
supervision claim against the indiual Defendants, they allegjeat they did not supervise any
of the officers involved in the sedr warrant planning and executiold. Plaintiffs do not
oppose summary judgment on this issue for aleDéants except for the City of Bremerton.
Dkt. 49, p. 6.

Defendant Plumb supervised SOG detectRelmnsky, Whatley, Inklebarger, Alloway,
and May. Dkt. 30, p. 4. Defendant Plumb assedsRlhaintiffs’ claim fa negligent supervision
is against Defendant City of Bremerton. Rtdfs’ have not respondkto Defendant Plumb’s
summary judgment motion on this issue.

Defendant City of Bremerton asserts that Plaintiff Tillett's negligent supervision claim
should be dismissed because the City’s emplogieksot act tortiouslyand that no failure to
supervise was a proximate cause of Tillett'sgbbinjuries. Dkt. 26, p. 4. Defendant City of
Bremerton states that there is no evidenceahgatof the Defendants adteutside the scope of
employment, there is no evidence that anthefDefendants acted tortiously, and there no
evidence that City’s conduct was the proximzaase of Tillett’s injuries. Dkt. 26, p. 4-5.

Plaintiffs respond by assertingatrtDefendant City of Bremem is liable for “not taking

the time to better explain Whatley’s new positiofobe he injured an innocent citizen.” DKkt.
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48, p. 7.

Defendant City of Bremerton replies that Rtdfs failed to identify any evidence to meet
any of the elements for negligent supervision. Dkt. 61.

To establish a claim for negligent supeiatisa plaintiff must show (1) an employee
acted outside the scopelug or her employment, (2) the eropée presented a risk of harm to
others, (3) the employer knew, or should have kmowthe exercise of reasonable care that the
employee posed a risk to others, and (4) ttratemployer’s failuréo supervise was the
proximate cause of injuries to plaintifBriggs v. Nova Service$35 Wash.App. 955, 966
(2006)¢iting Niece v. EImview Group HomE31 Wash.2d 39 (1997)).

Plaintiffs have not shown that any of thepdoyees acted outsideetlscope of his or her
employment. It is undisputed that the Defamdavere serving a valid search warrant on the
residence. Plaintiffs appear to argue thaiebdant Whatley was not acting in accordance with
his role on the SOG, but this allegation iswported by the evidence. Even if there were
critical comments about Defendant Whatley's§@ts, it has not been shown that he acted
outside the scope bis employment.

Plaintiffs have not shown that any of the Defants presented a risk of harm or that City
of Bremerton knew or should hakaown that one of the Defendargosed a risk to others.
Nothing has been alleged regarding the Defersd@ackgrounds that would indicate that they
posed a risk of harm, and no evidence has peattuced to support any of the elements of
negligent supervision.

Finally, Plaintiff has not shown a linkagetiween any alleged faita to supervise and
Plaintiff Tillett’s injuries. Paintiffs have failed to show@arima faciecase. For the foregoing

reasons, Defendants City of Bremerton andi®’'s motions for summary judgment regarding
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negligent supervision should geanted. As noted above, thenaning Defendants’ motions for
summary judgment are unopposadd should be granted.
C. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 CLAIM

Defendant City of Bremerton asserts tRkintiffs’ § 1983 claims should be dismissed
because there was no constitutional violatiomctvivas the product of a policy, practice, or
custom adopted and promulgated by the cityfeials. Dkt. 26, p. 5. Defendants Whatley and
Inklebarger assert that Plaifisi 8 1983 claims should be dismisskecause they are entitled to
qgualified immunity. Dkts. 25, p. 10-21; 28, p. 4Befendants Alloway, May, and Plumb assert
that Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims should be dism@&®cause they were not involved in obtaining
the search warrant and had no contact witmEftaillett. Dkts. 27, p. 4; 29, p. 4; & 30, p. 5.
Defendant Sargent asserts that Plaintiffs’ 8 1€188ns should be dismissed because he was not
involved with obtaining the search warrant and the only contact he had with Plaintiff Tillett was
to provide comfort to Tillett. Dkt. 32, p. Defendant Polonsky asserts that Plaintiffs’ 8§ 1983
claims should be dismissed because he did n@ bantact with Plaintiff Tillett and that the
search warrant obtained was basedimple probable cause. Dkt. 31, p. 4.

Plaintiffs have not responded to DefentiaAlloway, May, and Plumb’s motions for
summary judgment. Dkts. 27, 29 & 30.

The Court will first examine City of Breenton'’s liability, followed by the other
individual Defendartt’ liability.

1. Monell Legal Standard — City of Bremerton

A city is liable for monetary damages underd&.C. § 1983 if a constitutional violation
is a product of a policy, practice; custom adopted and promulgatey the city’s officials.

Levine v. City of Alamed&25 F.3d 903, 907 (9th Cir. 2008). @stablish liabilly, a plaintiff
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must establish that he was deprived of a tut®nal right and that the city had a policy,
practice, or custom which amounted to “deliberate indifference” to the constitutional right and
was the “moving force” behind the constitutional violatidd. A custom is an act not formally
approved by an appropriate decisimaker, but is a practice sodespread as to have the force

of law. Bd. Of County Comm’rs of Bryan County v. Brow20 U.S. 397, 404 (1997).

2. City of Bremerton Liability Analysis

Defendant City of Bremerton asserts thatefils constitutional ghts were not violated
and that Tillett has not identifleany City policy, practice or cust that violated his rights.

Dkt. 26, p. 5. Plaintiffs assert that the CityRremerton was deliberateindifferent in their
custom of ignoring the raid plan. Dkt. 48, p. 8.féhelant City of Bremerton asserts that there is
no evidence that any of the officers ignored theraponal plan, that there is no evidence that
any of the officers ignored an operationarpbn any prior occasion, that there was no
constitutional violation, and &t there is no evidence that ignoring the alleged custom caused
Tillett’s constitutional rights to be violated. Dkt. 61, p. 8.

Plaintiffs have not presented evidest®wing that the Defendants ignored the
operational plan, and the allegationgvidnell liability made by Plaintiffs are unsupported by the
record. Even if the Court assumes that thieBaants ignored the operational plan, Plaintiffs
have not shown that “the practice [was] so wideagras to have the force of law.” Plaintiffs
have not presented evidence of any prior actiamsre Defendants did hfollow an operational
plan. Finally, as will be explained belowetle was no constitutional violation of Tillett's
constitutional rights. For thferegoing reasons, the City of@nerton is not liable under 42
U.S.C. § 1983. Defendant City of Bremerton’s motion for summary judgment as to Plaintiffs’ §

1983 claim should be granted.
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3. Qualified Immunity Legal Standards
“[G]lovernment officials performing discretiary functions generally are shielded from

liability for civil damages insofaas their conduct does not violalearly established statutory or
constitutional rights of which aasonable person would have knowitHarlow v. Fitzgerald
457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982). “Through applicatiortrad qualified immunity doctrine, public
servants avoid the general costs of subjecting offi¢@the costs of trialdistraction of officials
from their governmental duties, inhibition okdretionary action, and detence of able people
from public service.”V-1 Oil Co. v. Smith114 F.3d 854, 857 (9th Cir. 199internal citations
omitted. The immunity is “immunity from suit taer than a mere defense to liability.”
Mitchell v. Forsyth 472 U.S. 511, 526 (1985).

The Supreme Court establisha two-part analysis iBaucier v. Katz533 U.S. 194, 201
(2001), for determining whether qualified immunigyappropriate in a suit against a public
official for an alleged violation of a constitutional rigl@oyd v. Benton Count$74 F.3d 773,
778 (9th Cir. 2004), citin@aucier v. Katz533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001). Although no longer
mandatory, the Supreme Court has recently heldtthay be “beneficial” for a court required
to rule upon qualified imomity to examine th&aucierfactors: (1) whether the official violated
the plaintiff's constitutional rights on the faetfeged and (2) if ther@as a violation, whether
the constitutional rights were clearly establishBéarson v. Callahani29 S.Ct. 808, (2009)
(holding that theSauciertwo-part analysis was no longer mandatory).

4. Qualified Immunity Analysis

Defendant Whatley argues that he is erditle qualified immunity because he was acting

reasonably and that he did not violate a “cleastablished statutory or constitutional rights of

which a reasonable person would have known.” Dkt. 25, p. 10. Defendant Whatley makes thg
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following arguments: (1) the search of the desice was legal because it was authorized by a
valid search warrant; (2) Whatley’s seizure diftiff Tillett was legal because Tillett was an
occupant of a residence beingvesl a search warrant; (3) Defendant Whatley’s use of force was
reasonable; (4) Defendant Whatley’s act of pomhis firearm at Tillett was reasonable under
the circumstances; and (5) the use of wrist restraints was reasonable. Dkt. 25, p. 11-21.

Plaintiffs respond by asserting theatcessive force was useddetaining Plaintiff Tillett.
Dkt. 49, p. 7-8. Plaintiffs alleginat the Defendants knew thatlett was running a business out
of the garage, that Defendant Whatley saw a maligect enter the garage, and that three other
Defendants saw Tillett enter the garage. Dkt. 29, Plaintiffs assert that Defendants, based on
the information they had, should have erddlreough the garage andt through the house.

Dkt. 49, p. 10. It appears that Plaintiffs argoahrguing that Defendarde&d not have reason to
detain Tillett because he did moise a threat. Dkt. 49, p. 10. HipaPlaintiffs appear to argue
that Defendant Whatley did not follow ap#ional plans. Dkt. 49, p. 10-11.

Defendant Whatley states in his reply that Ri&s’ theory of liabiity is limited to their
assertion that Whatley used an unreasonable armbtmice to detain Plaintiff Tillett. Dkt. 60,
1-2. Defendant Whatley states that Plaintiffxdbassert that the searwarrant was invalid,
that the officers exceeded the scope of thechemarrant, that Whatley’s decision to detain
Tillett was unconstitutional, or that Whatley piing his firearm at Tillett was unconstitutional.
Dkt. 60, p. 2.

It appears that Plaintiffs are only arguing ttiegt force used to detain Plaintiff Tillett was
an unreasonable use of force, which is a tfroAmendment violation. As noted by Defendant
Whatley, Plaintiffs are not challenging the stawarrant, whether the Defendants exceeded the

scope of the search warrant, whether Whatldg@sion to detain Tilletivas unconstitutional, or

ORDER - 13




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

whether Whatley pointing his firearm at Eilt was unconstitutionalThe Court need only
examine whether there was excessive force sttt detention of Tillett to determine if
qualified immunity applies.

The use of force to effect an arressubject to the FourtAmendment’s prohibition on
unreasonable seizure&raham v. Connqr490 U.S. 386, 395 (1989). To determine whether
officers used excessive force during an arrestrtsdalance “the nate and quality of the
intrusion on the individual's Fourth Am@ment interests against the countervailing
governmental interests at stak&rahamat 396 (quotation marks omittedge also Miller v.
Clark County 340 F.3d 959, 964 (9th Cir.2003). We exaathe “facts and circumstances of
each particular case, including the severity ef¢chme at issue, whether the suspect poses an
immediate threat to the safety of the officerstbrers, and whether he is actively resisting arrest
or attempting to evade arrest by flightGraham 490 U.S. at 396ee also Miller340 F.3d at
964.

We also consider, under the totality of theeemstances, the “quantum of force” used to
arrest the plaintiffDavis v. City of Las Vegad78 F.3d 1048, 1055 (9th Cir.2007), the
availability of alternive methods of capturing or detaining the suspécgt 1054, and the
plaintiff's mental ad emotional statesee Deorle v. Rutherfor@72 F.3d 1272, 1282 (9th
Cir.2001).

Although on summary judgment we view thedance in the light most favorable to
Plaintiffs, “[t]he ‘reasonablenessf a particular use of force mus¢ judged from the perspective
of a reasonable officer on the scene, rathan with the 20/20 vision of hindsightGraham
490 U.S. at 396. Whether a reasonable offioaetcchave believed his or her conduct was proper

is a question of law for the court and shouldib&ermined at the earliest possible point in
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litigation. ActUp!Portland v. Bagley988 F.2d 868, 873 (9th Cir. 1993).

The Court will first balance theature of the intrusion agairthe governmental interest.
The Court will then examine the totsliof the circumstances.

a. Balancing Test.

In balancing the intrusion upon an indival’'s Fourth Amendment rights against the
governmental interests, we fil@ssess the gravity of the paui@r intrusionby evaluating the
type and amount of force inflictedMiller, 340 F.3d at 964. In this case, Defendant Whatley
encountered Plaintiff Tillett come from behiadtlosed door. Dkt. 25, p. 6. Whatley announced,
“Police get on the ground.ld. Tillett refused commands to lie on the grouidl. Tillett
retreated and Whatley attempted to grdkett's coat, but Tillett backed awaid. As Tillett
retreated he fell into atBng position and Whatley gbbed Tillett by the coatd. Whatley told
Tillett to lie on the ground, but Tilletefused and continued to resistl. Whatley placed Tillett
onto the ground by using Tillett's codtd. Defendant Inklebarger arrivéal assist at that point.
Whatley and Inklebarger attempted to place hand restraints on Tillett, but Tillett tucked this left
arm under his bodyld. Whatley and Inklebarger were ewegally able to place hand restraints
on Tillett. Id.

The use of force in this situation was minimBefendant Whatley did not hit or strike
Plaintiff Tillett and did not usany lethal or non-lethal weapoas Tillett. The only contact was
the grabbing of Tillett’s coat in order to pldeand restraints on Tillett. This contact was brief
and was only enough to effectuate a detentiorenkfvthe Court assumes that Tillett hand was
broken during the detention, the derapplied appears minimal.

Next, we assess the governmental interest bjuating: (1) the severity of the crime at

issue, (2) whether the suspect posed an immediaat fo the safety dhe officers or others,
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and (3) whether the suspect was\aadii resisting arrest or attertipg to evade arrest by flight.
Miller, 340 F.3d at 964. The 1718 Sheridan residensetheasubject of a search warrant based
on a narcotics investigation, specifically metipduetamine sales. Dkt. 25, p. 3. The warrant
authorized any peace officer to search the 178i@m residence in order to seize evidence
relating to RCW 69.50.401, VUCSA. Dkt. 2543-According to RCW 69.50.401(1)(b), a
person that manufactures, delig, or possesses with intéo manufacture or deliver
amphetamines is guilty of a class B felony. The sale and possession of methamphetamines ni
be considered a serious offerssece it is a felony punishablath up to ten years in prisofd.;

RCW 9A.20.021.

Plaintiff Tillett was located at the residenat the time of the erution of the search
warrant. He was not identified at the time af #ncounter with Defendant Whatley. Plaintiff
Tillett refused the commands of a law enforcement agent even though Tillett should have had
notice that police were in the residenceis lindisputed that Defelant Whatley and other
officers were wearing clothing with the word Re” and that they we announcing that they
were police. Plaintiff Tillett was retreatimgto an area that was not secured by the law
enforcement agents. Defendant Whatley allégatTillett was wearig a coat, which could
have contained a weapon, and Tillett's hamwdse down around his waist where Tillett could
access a weapon. These facts weigh in favbreééndant Whatley. Plaintiffs, however,
characterize Tillett as frail and elderly. While inist disputed that Tillett was 81-years-old, it
was unknown at the time if Tillett Haa weapon or if there were weapons located in the garage
that Tillett was retreating to. On balances facts weigh in DefendéWhatley’s favor.

Plaintiff Tillett also was refusing DefendiaWhatley’s command to lie on the ground.

Tillett retreated away from Whatley and resisted being placed in hand restraints once being
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placed on the ground. It appedrat Tillett was evadg detention by flight and resisting
detention. This weighs in Bendant Whatley’s favor.

It is clear that the governmental interigstietaining PlaintiffTillett was outweighed by
the intrusion upon Tillett's Fourth Amendmerghits. The crime was serious, Tillett posed a
threat, and he was resisting and avoiding detention.

b. Totality of the Circumstances.

The Court next considers the totalitytbé circumstances. The Court considers the
“quantum of force” used to arrest the pldintihe availability ofalternative methods of
capturing or detaining the suspeand the plaintiff's mental dremotional state. As noted
above, the quantum of force used was mininRdhintiffs argue that there was alternative
method available to DefendantBlaintiffs state that Defendanshould have first entered the
garage and detained Plaintiff Tillett. There agppeo be no advantage in this alternative which
may have ended in the same result. Finallyevidence shows that Defendants knew the state
of mind or emotional state of Plaintiff Tillett. Thisa neutral factor in the analysis. Given the
totality of the facts, the factors weigh in the favor of Defendants. Plaintiff Tillett's Fourth
Amendment rights were not violated.

It should be noted that, assuming Tillet' s\tlavas broken in the fracas, that is not proof
that the force used was excessive. In thasemistances, with an elderly person resisting, an
injury does not infer or imply excessive force.

In conclusion, the force used on Plainfifflett was minimal and reasonable under the
circumstances. The force used was not excesdiliere was no violation of Plaintiff Tillett's
Fourth Amendment rights. Because there wasamstitutional violation, Defendant Whatley is

entitled to qualified immunity. Defendavithatley’s summary judgment as to qualified
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immunity should be granted.

5. Other Defendants

Defendant Inklebarger asserts that he tgled to qualified immunity because he used
minimal force in applying hand restraints to Pldinfillett. Dkt. 28, p. 4. Plaintiffs assert that
Defendant Inklebarger violated Plaintiff Tilletsvil rights because Inklebarger stood by while
watching Defendant Whatley use excessive foikt. 50, p. 11. Plaintiffs do not contest that
Defendant Inklebarger’s aof applying hand restraints was reasonable.

Plaintiffs’ argument regardinipklebarger’s liability is unavailing. As noted above, the
force used by Defendant Whatley was reasonaPlaintiff Tillett's constitutional rights were
not violated. Therefore, Defendant Inklebarger bt violate Tillett's constitutional rights. For
the foregoing reasons, Defendant Inklebesgeotion for summary judgment regarding
Plaintiffs’ § 1983 clainshould be granted.

Defendant Polonsky asserts thatis entitled to qualifiednmunity because he had no
physical contact with Plaintiff Tillett. Dk. 31, p. #£laintiffs assert thdbefendant Polonsky is
still liable because Defendant Polonsky had g tluprotect Tillett from Defendant Whatley’s
excessive force. Dkt. 51, p. 11. Plaintiffsjament is unavailing. As noted above, the force
used by Defendant Whatley was reasonablefendant Polonsky didot violate Plaintiff
Tillett’s constitutional rights. Defendant Polonsky’s motion for summary judgment regarding
Plaintiffs’ 8§ 1983 clainmshould be granted.

Defendant Sargent asserts that he is entitlephalified immunitybecause he did not use
force against Plaintiff Tillett. Dkt. 32, p. 4. Defendant Sargent only contact was to remove the
hand restraints on Tillett's handdto provide Tillett with a chato sit in. Dkt. 32, p.1 & 5.

Plaintiffs assert that Defendant Sargent is édi#cause Defendant Sargent had a duty to protect
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Tillett from Defendant Whatley’s excessiveder Dkt. 52, p. 11. Plaintiffs’ argument is
unavailing. As noted above, the force usedbjendant Whatley wagasonable. Defendant
Sargent did not violate Plaintiff Tillett’s cortsitional rights. Defendant Sargent’s motion for
summary judgment regarding Plaffgi § 1983 claim should be granted.

Plaintiffs have not responded to Defiants Alloway, May, and Plumb’s motions for
summary judgment. Dkts. 27, 29 & 30. Sumynadgment “should be granted where the non-
moving party fails to offer evidence from whia reasonable [factiler] could return a
[decision] in its favor.” Triton Energy Corpat 1220. Local Rule CR 7(b)(2) states that if a
party fails to file papers in opposition to a nootj such failure may be considered by the court as
an admission that the motion has meritis indisputed that Defelants Alloway, May, and
Plumb used no force against Plaintiff Tillett. Téfere, Plaintiff Tillett's constitutional rights
were not violated. Defendants Alloway, Mayd Plumb’s motions for summary judgment
should be granted as to Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims.

D. 42 U.S.C. § 1985

Defendants City of Bremerton, Whatlédloway, Inklebarger, May, Plumb, Polonsky,
and Sargent assert that Plaintiffs’ 42 U.S.@985 claim should be dismissed because there is
no evidence that the City of Brent@n or its employees acted withcial animus. Dkt. 25, p. 23.

Plaintiffs do not oppose Defendants CityBremerton, Whatley, Alloway, Inklebarger,
May, Plumb, Polonsky, and Sargent’s motions for summary judgment negaini§ issue. DKkts.
48, p. 10; 49, p.12; 50, p. 13; 51, p. 11; & 52, p. 1ain@ffs have not responded to Defendants
Alloway, May, and Plumb’s motions for summawgdgment. Dkts. 27, 29 &30. Defendants’
motions for summary judgment regamgl Plaintiffs’ 42 U.S.C. § 1985 clainae unopposed and

should be granted.
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E. NEGLIGENT ARREST

Defendants City of Bremerton, Whatléy|oway, Inklebarger, May, Plumb, Polonsky,
and Sargent assert that Plaintiffaim for negligent arrest should be dismissed because there is
no cause of action for negligent arrest. DR&.p. 6; 25, p. 21; 27, p. 4; 28, p. 5; 29, p. 4; 30, p.
5; 31, p. 5; 32, p. 5. Defendants City oeBrerton, Whatley, Alloway, Inklebarger, May,
Plumb, Polonsky, and Sargent contend that waheagligence clains brought against a
government entity, the public duty doctrine applils. Plaintiffs assert that Defendant City of
Bremerton is liable for negligence.

The public duty doctrine provides “that for aiwerecover from anunicipal corporation
in tort it must be shown that the duty breactvad owed to the injured person as an individual
and was not merely the breach of an oliggaowed to the public in generalBailey v. Town of
Forks 108 Wash.2d 262, 265 (1987). “Absent a simovaf a duty running to the injured
plaintiff from agents of the municipality, no lidiby may be imposed for a municipality’s failure
to provide protection or servicés a particular individual.”ld. at 266. One exception to the
public duty doctrine is the “leglative intent exception.” “Liability can be founded upon a
municipal code if that code hits terms evidences a clear intéo identify and protect a
particular and circumscribed class of persortddivorson v. Dahl89 Wash.2d 673, 676 (1978);
see also Hannum v. Washington State Dept. of Licens#idgWash.App. 354, 359 (2008).

Plaintiffs assert that RC\WA.80.010 is a law which creatkability. Dkt. 49, p. 11-12.
RCW 9A.80.010 states a “public sert@anguilty of official misconducif, with intent to obtain a
benefit or to deprive anotherrgen of a lawful right or privédge... intentionally commits an
unauthorized act under color of law; or ... intenally refrains from performing a duty imposed

upon him by law.”
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Plaintiffs have not shown that the puldiaty doctrine does neaipply to Defendants.
First, Plaintiffs have not provided autltgrstating RCW 9A.80.01@reates liability in
accordance with the public duty doctrine’s legiisle intent exception, and the Court has found
no authority stating RCW 9A.80.010eates an exception to the puldiaty doctrine. Moreover,
RCW 9A.80.010 is a duty owed to theneral public and not to anydinidual. It is a duty for a
public servant not to commit unauthorized acts or refrain fraoeing duties. This duty is
owed to all the public and not a “particulardacircumscribed class pkersons.” The plain
reading of the statute does not rate that it applies to any padlar and circumscribed class of
persons. Therefore, the legiBVe intent exception does regply here. The public duty
doctrine prevents Plaintiffs’ claims for neggnce. For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’
motions for summary judgment regardimggligent arrest stuld be granted.
F. OUTRAGE CLAIM

Defendants Whatley, City of Bremerton, Alloway, Inklebarger, May, Plumb, Polonsky,
and Sargent assert that Pldistioutrage claim should be disssied because his actions were not
atrocious and utterly intolerabin a civilized community. Ok. 25, p. 24; 26, p. 6; 27, p. 5; 28,
p. 6,29, p. 5; 29, p. 5; 30, p. 5; 31, p. 5; & 32, p. 5.

The tort of outrage requires the prootiofee elements: (1) extreme and outrageous
conduct, (2) intentional or reldss infliction of emtional distress, and J&ctual result to
plaintiff of severe emotional distreskloepfel v. Bokgrl49 Wash.2d 192, 195-96 (2003). The
first element requires proof that the conduct teasoutrageous in character and so extreme in
degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of dgcand to be regarded as atrocious, and
utterly intolerable in a civilized communityd. at 196;see also Robel v. Roundupl8 Wash.2d

35, 51 (2002). The tort of outrage does ndeerd to mere insultadignities,threats,
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annoyances, petty oppressions, or other trivialittdeepfe| 149 Wash.2d at 196.

Although the three elements daet questions for the jury, ithfirst element of the test
goes to the jury only after the court determirieésasonable minds could differ on whether the
conduct was sufficiently extreme to result in liabilifgRobe] 148 Wash.2d at 51.

In this case, Plaintiffallege that “Defendants’ conduct was extreme and outrageous
because in the face of information to the camyt, police officers stopped a citizen without
probable cause and subjected fioh excessive force for a person of his advanced years and
delicate constitution.” Dkt. 49, p. 12.

It is undisputed that the search warrant waala search warrantna Plaintiffs have not
provided evidence showing the Defendants excettiedcope of the search warrant. Itis
undisputed that Defendants Alay, May, and Polonsky had no ploa contact with Plaintiff
Tillett. Dkts. 27, p. 5; 29, p. 5; & 31, p. 5.idtundisputed that Plaintiff Tillett refused
commands by Defendant Whatley to lie on theugd, retreated into the garage, and resisted
arrest. Defendant Inklebarger’s contact witaiiiff Tillett only involved the placing of hand
restraints on Tillett. Dkt. 28, p. 6. Defend&iimb’s contact with Plaintiff Tillett involved
escorting Tillett and applying a bandage to Tillett's hand. Dkt. 30, p. 5. Finally, Defendant
Sargent’s contact with Plaintiff Tillett involderemoving the hand resiinés, providing a chair
for Tillett to sit in, and retrieving Tillett'sea from the garage. Dkt. 32, p. 2 & 5.

None of these acts, either by themselwem combination, can be viewed by a
reasonable person as extreme or outrageous. As noted above, the force used was minimal an
reasonable under the circumstances at the timentifldiillett did not need to go to the hospital

for medical care, and Plaintiff Tilletefused medical care when asked.

! While a person’s “advanced years ateticate condition” are considered incessive force analysis, they are not
factors allowing one to refuse lawful orders or resist arrest.
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Plaintiffs also appear to argue that tegention of Plaintiff Tillett was improper.
Plaintiffs, however, have not provided authpthat Defendants may not detain someone,
unidentified at the time, during tlexecution of a search warraruthority, in fact, states that
detention of an occupant of a premise while@pr search is being conduct is allowalee
Muehler v. Mena544 U.S. 93 (2005)(“[The Supreme Cidreld that officers executing a
search warrant for contraband have the authootgétain the occupants of the premises while a
proper search is conducted.”). Again, it is wsmlited that the search warrant was properly
issued and that the Defendanttedaowithin the scope of the search warrant. Defendants found
Plaintiff Tillett on the propertyvhere the search warrant wasngeserved, and they detained
him, which was allowable under the law. The minimal use of force when executing a proper
search warrant is not extreme or outrageous.

Given the undisputed facts of the case,arable minds would not differ on whether the
conduct was sufficiently extreme to resultiability. The conduct of Defendants was not
extreme and outrageous. Since IRiffs cannot establish the firestement of the tort of outrage,
their claim fails as a matter of law. For fleeegoing reasons, Defendants’ motions for summary
judgment regarding Plaintiffs’ claimf outrage should be granted.

G. LOSS OF CONSORTIUM CLAIM

Defendants Whatley, City of Bremerton, Alloway, Inklebarger, May, Plumb, Polonsky,
and Sargent assert that Plaintiffs’ losgofhsortium claim should be dismissed because
Defendants did not tortiously cause injuryMo. Tillett. Dkts. 25, p. 24; 26, p. 6; 27, p. 5; 28, p.
6, 29, p. 5; 29, p. 5; 30, p. 6; 31, p. 5-6; & 3%46. Defendants statkat Plaintiff Grace
Tillett's claim is based on her husband’s claiarsg that since Mr. Tillett’s claims do not survive

summary judgment, her claim should also f&il. Plaintiffs argue that the claim for loss of
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consortium is a standalone claim, and does not need Plaintiff Tillett's claims to survive to be
viable. Dkt. 49, p. 14-15. Plaintiffs citeind v. Caple100 Wash.2d 739, 744 (1984) to support
their argumentld. Lundstates that “a deprived spouseyrsae for loss of consortium damages
by either joining in a lawsuit ith the spouse who sustained paiy injuries or by bringing an
independent suit.ld. at 744.

PlaintiffsmisreadLund TheLundcourt examined whether a loss of consortium claim
may be maintained as a cause of action witfmaing the other spouse’s underlying tort claims.
Lund 100 Wash.2d at 743. Thendcourt held that a “deprivedpouse may sue for loss of
consortium damages by either joining in &dait with the spouse who sustained primary
injuries or by bringing an independent sud. at 744. Liability to the “impaired” spouse is still
an element to loss of consortium. In this case, since all of Plaintiff Tillett's claims have been
dismissed, Plaintiff Grace Tillett's claim fords of consortium is no longer available.

Plaintiffs attempt to revive the claim by asserting that the loss of consortium claim is
based on assault. Plaintiffs’ complaint, howeegplicitly states thathe loss of consortium is
based on Plaintiff Tillett’s claims. Dkt. 1, § 11.Zfiat as a result of the abauelaintiff Grace
L. Tillett has sustained and continues to sustain damages in that she has lost and continues to
the services and consortium of her husband.. Plaintiff Grace Tilletthas never alleged that
assault was the underlying torther loss of consortium claim.

For the forgoing reasons, Defendants’ mias for summary judgment on the consortium

claim should be granted.
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lll. ORDER
The Court does hereby find a@diRDER:
1) Defendants’ Motions for Summadudgment (Dkts. 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, &
32) areGRANTED;
(2) Plaintiffs’ case i®ISMISSED; and
3) The Clerk is directed t®end copies of this Order to all counsel of record and any
party appearingro seat said party’s last known address.

DATED this 3rd day of January, 2011.

folobTE e

ROBERT J. BRYAN
United States District Judge
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